Chapter XXIII.
"The Fort"?East Concord Village.

Until the close of the elghtesnth ceniury there was no village on
thas east side of the river.It was still(as'describediin Chavter XIII)
a place of qulet fsrms and a fsw scattsreq houses moat of wiich were
occupied by sons and grandsons of Capt.Ebenezer Eastman.Fresent Bastman
st. was cslled Csnterbury road and Mill brook crossed 1t and,in a short
curve re-crossed to the east side of the highway.In thes= modern days
a gtone wall confines the srook to the east side of Eastnman St.The only
approach to the farms on ths east side of the river,was by way of kast-
man St.,a highway dating back to the 1726 surVej,but.now(I9h9)partially
clossd in the name of modern grogress.

The late Maj.Charles Eastman Staniels(b.I845) whose knowladgs of
ward 2,Concord,was of great value to the wriier,said: "Within my remem=
brance; residents of the Mountain and other neighborhoode noearby,always
referred to the village of East Concord 1n the oldtime varnacular as
*The Fort', 'Going to The Fort' etc.” Bouton confirms this and gives two
possible exnlanations ‘for the local hame the” "Irish Fort built by the
Londonderry people shortly before our pioneers arrived in Pennycook,or,
the garrison -coﬁmonly called“FOrtW—built in I746 by Capt.Ebenezer East-
man to protect his home.

This name,"The Fort",is not to be confused with "Old Fort"which,
from as early as I79I,frequently appears in deeds describlng land lying
along Fort Eddy road-now renamed Intervale road.Fort Eddy,opposite Sug-
Ball,ls definitely 0ld Fort,since 1t rerers to an Indian fort many
years earlier than thc= white tian' 3uknowledgeosf1hhksvval}@y .The early
gettlers found the remains of this fort which,according to Indian tra-
dition, was built by the raiding Mohawksa for attaok against tne local
tribe of Psnnycooks.

An old newspaper clipping dated August 1856, describms a "Levese on
Christian Shore"-a sort of falr- with a 1ist of Hagt Concord nelghbor-
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hoods represented in the gatherlng?Turtlatowm,Anpletown and Snaptown,
the Mountain, the Fort,Christian Shore,Hackett's Brook neighborhood,the
0ld Cénterbury road peonle,the Intervale and all othar portions of what
is now known by the municival title of Ward Two."Christian Shore was a
group of houses on the river bank about half a mile north of Federal
bridge.The Intervale is the sectlon along the river and swuth of the
Tuﬁnpike and the other localities have beenﬁidentified in earller chap-
te;s. .

Of Capt.Ebenezer Eastman's seveh sons,the oldést,Ebenezer,Jr.,
had died in I778.0badiah(b.I72I)had left Rumford and in I750 was"of
Salem 1n the provance of new hamgfhire" when he transferred his share
of his father's estate to his brother,deremiah. Joseph(b.1715)was'11vin@
&n Hopkinton at the ﬂime his father's estate was settled but evidently
he returned to Concord later and lived near his father's o0ld home.His
house was inherited by his son,Capt.John Eastman(b.I759) and is de-
geribed as standing a few rods northwest of the railroad station at
Eagt Concord. |

: 2I5 Eastman 8t

Philip Eastman lived into the nineteenth century at his house/de-
gcribed and pictured in an earlier chapte;wénd he was suceceeded by his
gon,Robert(b.I742) .Nathaniel Eastman(b.I7I7) built his hduse not long
after he received his share of his fathef's estaté,butAlt burned and
the house at 329 Eastman St.replaces 1t,although it 1s bslieved that
a part of the ell may be thz original. His son,Capt.Nathaniel,lived for
a time ih.his father's h§use and then,in I785,he bullt a low story and
half house on the bluff above ths highway and adjacent to the Eastman
Séhool'1ot.Capt.Néthaniel‘s brother,Jacob(b.I763)owned property at
Batchelder's where the original saw mill stood.In I790 hs built a new
saw mill probably on this gite and later he bullt a grist mill on the

opposite side of th3 brook.The wegt boundary of his farmvwas"near Trum-

bull Falls"about I830,suggesting that one of the old houses at Batchel-

X~ (Lhnkjid'QQLEx
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dér's may have been bullt by Jacob.

Jeremiah Eastman(b.I7I9) was living in I800 near the Old Fort
cemetery and his brother,Moses,(b.I732) had his hospltable home farther
out on the Oak H1ll road as pictured and described in an earlier chapt2§:
Philip Eastman's son,Jonathan, built his house in the vacant lot north
of his father's house and it was the inhsritance of his son,Robert aﬁd
of his grand damghter,Mrs.James Frye.Stilson antman(b.l?BB)son of Ebene-
zer Eastman,Jr.did not settle on his grandfather's estate but took up
a farm on the "common land"north ward.In IT8I the Proﬁrietors vomed
that he be allowed to"pitch" his lot where he had already made ssttlement

fhis gerves to show how,at the close of the eighteenth century,the
Eastman clan demimated the territthnow included in East Concord village.

A century. and more ago Mill bréok wag a rushing stream of con sider-
able volume,protected by heavy forest aroynd Turtle pond and by acres or
swamp land long since gone dry because of destruction of woodland.Maj.
Stamiels could remember when,from'Batchelder's down stream to the Inter-
vale, there were no less than five'dams on the brook and seven mills or
sméll factories were utilizing the watsr power.We ghall list some of
the early enterprises which brought into being the present village of
East Concord.

‘Having been provided with saw and grist mills,ths next consideration
was a tanyard and the first one on Mill brook seems to have been operatet|
as early'as 1795 by Stephen Ambrose down near Willow bridge on the “usu—
plke.His home was on the west side of Canterbury foad about opposite
presant Shawmut St.and,beiﬁg an enterprising young man,he opened a gen-
eral store in his ﬂouse.In the diary of Daniel Clark,the Millville pot-
ter,we find this entry under date of Jan.28,I799: "Cerried ware to Am-
brose."The rule at "The Fort"seems to have been that a man who was not
an Eastman should marry an Bastman éirl.Stephen Ambroge followed the

rule by wedding Hammah, the dagchter of Moses Eastman. One of their daugh
X- Chapler XOT
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ters married Hon.Amasa Walker of Boston and became the mother of Gen.
Prancis A.Walker,first president of Massachusetts Inatitute of Technol«
'ogyﬁTheir youngest daughter marfied Wiiliam Ge.Webater of Plymouth,

In 1820, Mr .Ambrose kept a circulatiﬁg libraery in his store,well
patronized even by people on The Street.Asa McFarland,Jr. related that
he and his father,the Minister,were among those who"took books",About
1807( possibly IéII) Stephen Ambrose built a new house"in the mansion
st%;e".Our picture is copled from an old photograph but it was taken
after the house had been modernized with a steep pitch roof, large wine
dows: and an elaborate porch.It stands today,the most impressive home
‘1n East Concord.The large elm in the yard was known in the village as
the Wébster elm,possibly in honor of the great Danlel who often visite
éd there,or,perhaps,because Mrs.Susanna Webster lived there during her
father's last yeérs.

;Sﬁephen Ambrose was one of Concord's most successful and esteemed

/cltizbns-an ardent Whig,he served as member of the Legislature at van
rious sessions and held many positions of trust and honor.

Edmund Leavitt established a second tanyard on the intervale with
open tan pits on Mill St.Leavitt was a competent surveyor and bid off
the job of making, the preliminary map of Concord to be used by fﬁilip
Carrigain in making his famous map of the Stat@( I816).He served as sex
lectman in I807.In 1824 he sold his tanyard to‘Cyrus Robinson of Methuen
eand Enos Blake of Chegter.By this time tha.bfiginal ériut mill had dlee
appeared and the new firm of tanners built their bark mill on ite eite.
The business prospered until the plant was destroyed by fire in I864.

Mr.Blake had moved to the city and opened a tanning buslnoaa

there while Mr.Robinson and htks two sons bought a steam mill proporty
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on the south side of Horseshoe pond,for a tannery.This in turn, wasg tak-

en over by two young men-CGeorge F.and Charles T.Page-who organlzed and
developed it into one of Concord's major induwstriss.

In the year IT75 it was voted at Town Meeting"that the Select Men be
ﬁgfired to purchage of Lemuel Tucker a Road Two Rods wide from Eastman's
Ferry go c¢alled to the Gate near the dwelling Houde of Philip Eastman.:
There wasAsome delay,probably because of the war,but in I783 it wag voted
to'accept the road from Tucker's Ferry to the Mill Farmi and this road is
West Portsmouth St.today.Also,at the I775 Town Meeting it waé voted"that
the Road be laid;f%raight from the Chandler Tree so called near Mr.Phllip
Eagstman's dwelling H0qf% to Eben’ Eastman's Corner near Lt.John Chandler's
Grgft Mill in Concord."On our;modern map this latter road is still’
":ftraight" from Pdrtsmouth St;tﬁ Mill St.Thus a good foad was assured
from the ferry to the mill. N

At that period we knowr.of only one grist mill on Mill brook- the
originalcorn mill" for which Capt.Ebenezer Eastman had pald the charges.
It segme likely that Lt.Chandler had beeome propriétor of this mill ae
well as tavern keeper at'The Forﬁ".The grist mill was on the south:side
of ths brook and the tavern on the north side. From that time on the 1lit-
tle lane now called Mill St. becamé the ecenter of the local development
of industry.On the seusl side of the brook,Edmﬁnd Leavitt operated the
second tannery at "The Fort" and a little abovs on the brook,Philip Jokn-
gon used the water power for a carding and fulling mill.About 1800, Igaac
Eastman opened a blacksmith gshop and the first machiné ghop in Concord,
utilizing the same power.Later he bought the Johnson mill.About 1817
Josiah'Furnalé(férnald)joined the group on the brook with a ghop for
dressing morocco leather which seems o have been the first and only one
ik town.It stood dowm the brook from Jomnson's about where the stream

turns southward te €ross the Intervale.

Philip C.Johnson who owned the carding and fulling mill was the
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gon of Jomathar and Rhoda(Abbot) Johngon who onee lived on the slope

of Horse-hill.His home at"The Fort" was in the house here pictured.The
éll of thls house seems to ante-date hls oeccupancy by many years for it
1s said to have loop-holes for Indian warfare in its walls.Fhilip John-
son moved to Maine and in I1824,a son named Eastman was born in Le¢vell.
This gon settled in 1n Augusta and later mowed to Washington,D.C.where
he won fame as a portralt painter.Me is mentioned in Rachel Field's
"Al11l This and Heavén Tgo"

The carding and fullipg mill under Joehnson and later under Isaac
Eagtman,was well patronized by the farmers'wlives in the surrounding
_country.Isaac Eastman's machine shop was an I8 x 20 bullding and he
used it also as a smithy.When Lewis Downlng began to make chalses over
on Concord Street,Isaac Eastman pro&ided the axles.He was an ingenious
workman &€ indicated by his improvement in the wooden plows commonly
nsed on the farms.He made for them iron plates as casings which added
to the effeetivenass and to the durability of the plow.In time he added
an up~to~date trip hammer to his equipment and opened a wool-warking
shop nearby where he manufactured road scrapers.which were in great de-
mand.In this shop his cousin,Robert Eastman,inveﬁted the first elapboard
nachine which eventually éid away with the laborious procass of making
elapbosrds by hend.In 1826 the Eastmapw plant was destroyed by fire amd it
is sald that the bell on the Meeting-house was rung- so ?iciently for
the general alérm,tﬁat it cracked.

About the time that Isa” c. Eastman began business,Lt.Chandler's
tavern was turned into a grist mill and mech later it was used by Cyrus
Fsrrar for a silk dye shop.long ago this o0ld building on the site now
occupied by a barn on the south side of M11l St.,was degtroyed by fire.
Another grist mill of long ago still stands farther up Mill brook and
thfs,with the old mill known by thig generation as Cate's clder mill

(site of the original grist mill),are the only reminders todgy of all
the indusiries along the brook in the early days at "The Fort".
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About I8I7,Josiah Furnald(Fernald)th’had married Sophia,a daughter
of Jacob Eastman, opened his shop for dressing morocco leather.The
family made th=ir home in ths house still standing’ on the south cormer
of Shawmut St.and the Canterbury road(Eastman St.)About I835 the father
and mother with nine of their tem children,moved to Exeter,Me. making
the journey over the gnow by ox-sled.The oldest son,Josiah,Jr.,remained
in Concord to found a branch of the family well-known to this day.

In the elghteen twentieg,Cnp%.John Putney had a joiner's shovp
where he mads sleighs and coffing and did painting.On a celd Fébruary
night in I826,the shop butned to the gtound amd then Capt.Putney opened
a store in rivalry with that of Stephen Ambrose.The competition devel-
oped into a contest for the local pest-office which shifted from one
store to the othercaccording to which party was in power.Tke Putney
homs was the house in our picture and pgrhaps the €Cavtain built 1it.

On the north cérner of Mill St.stands the house here plctured.It
was built about I834 by Jonathan Sanborn and originally a store occupled
1ts front vpart.It has been much changed from 1its original design but
ohe may still trace that design.This house was long the home of Maj.
Charles Eastman Staniels.On Shawmut St. stands the home of Maj.Stanlels!
grandfather,Gen.Isaac Eastman,bullt in 1809 .There,in 1812,a daughter
was born,named Ruth Bradley Esstman.From that home she married Edward
D.Staniels and to £hat nome when widowed,she returned to spend the last
years of a long life.

It was Mrs.Staniels who brought about the restoration of 014 Fort
Cemetary up the hill from her home.In that little cemetery thirteen
Revolutionary soldiers had been buried,oné of whom now lies in Pine
Grove Comstery.It was the wish of his family that Capt.John Eastman
lis by ths side of his son,Moses,who died yeérs later.Capt.Eastman

gerved under Col.Gordon Mutchins i= 1777 .Although a man of deep reli-

gious feeling and Purltan standards,he was ene of those in his genera=-
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tion who hesitated to take thé¢ reswonsibilitiss of church membership

and 1t was not until I808 when h=z was nearly fifty years old tﬁat he
owned the Covenant at the Meeting-hduse.His portrait reproduced from
Bouton's History,was painted by his frisnd,Hon.Jagob Potter,about I83I
and reveals.t.he sterling charraétar of the man.Me dled in 1838,"leaving
in property,character and example,a valuaeble legacy to his children",av-
cording to Dr.Bouton who was then his pastor.A man could not ésk a finer
obituary.

Town 'Recbrds under date of March 5,I800,tell of the first fence.
built around {¢1d Fort ‘Cemet»er_vland ninety-four years later ,Mrs.Staniels's
vision and perseverencs brought re.stcrétion of th& sac¢red spot to com-
pletion when, through the gemerosiby of Miss Annis M.Phelps of Brookline
Mass.,a kinswoman,the impressive tablet w2g set in the mew rataining
wall and dedieafieon ceremonies were held.

A very humen little story is attaiched to Capt.Jolu» Eastman's
family.In I823,his gon,John(b.I79I) married Dorothy Pe Forrest of Canber=
bury,who is reputed to have been a beauty of the perfect blopde type.
With beauty she combined the domestic virtues and was wnotable for her
spick and span hoasekeeping Hur adoring husbend sakd she wag far too-
pratty te be smoked up cooking over a fireplace gnd so he bdwght her
one of -the newvly ilwente‘@ cook stoves for her kitchem.This was the
first such to be owned at "The Fort".

Mrs.Ruth BPastmab Staniels had many tales to tell of the old days
and one of these concerned an honored gummer visitor atv hei' girihood
home,iri the person of Capt‘.&t;chiba;ld MeNeil who owned a rope walk on
Federal St. in "'Bdst.on.l?e faginated the girl pecause ke had been a member
of thae famous Poston Pea Party.Whem he first came to "The Fort" about
I830,he was a typical gestlemdn of the old school,dressed in green small

clothas and ruffled shirt.Among her treagures,Mrs.Htaniels kept the
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comnissions of her father,lsaac Tustman, from Ensigy to Majer General in
the M.HLME1A%1R, signed by Gov.Jehn Langden in I808-10:by Gov.Bell in
1521 and by Gov.Woodbury in 1823,

In I8I3 "The rort"and its surroundins noishborhoods could support
a resident physician amd young Moses Long of Hophkimton took an office
in Philiip Jonnson's houge.Aftar the Jehnsons moved away he became owner
of the house.lo set out the elme in front of the house and many of those
on the lower end of the village street.Shortly aftzr hig arrival,lew
Hgmpshire became alarmed at the threat of depredations by the BErltish
along our gea-coast and a ru.or gvread that it was the purrose to attack
the U.S.ship of gseventy~four guns,"Washington",them on the stocks at Kit-
tery .A sqguad of twenty men in the village voluntserad for emergency de-
fence and Dr.Long LEX: drill magter.lieading cltizens like Isaac fLsstman,
Rob=rt Ambrosge snd 9imeon Stevens were among the volunteers,but haonily
thare was no call for their gervice.

After ten years of practice in the village,Dr.Long moved away
parhaps becamsga of the tragic desth of hls wife"from poison of white
lead accidentally mixed in sugar used by the family."Hle successor wag
another young man from Hovkinton,Dr.Elijah Colby/who had graduated that
sam= year(I823)from the Medlcal College at Hanover.He purchased Dr.
Long's house and made it his home as well ag ez location of his apothe=~
cary shop.he followed the general rule and married into the Eastman fam-

Svsan .
ily-his wife being!the grand~-daughter of Jonathan Eastman.

On the nortn corner of Shawmut St. 1s the old tavern ghown in
our pilcture.It was bullt by Aaron Austin who opened 1t as a tavern about
1800 .He,too, married an Kastman gifl»Judith,the daugnter of Hoseg Bagt-
man on the Oak hill road.During the Wnr of 1812,Auatin sarved with the
trooovs on the northern ffontier and there contracted svotted f2ver fron

which ho c¢isd in Vermont.Hig body wsg brought home for burial and his
funeral at the tavern was largely attended by the villagers.Contapgion
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apraad anong, thoge presznt and a local enidianle of 4ha drsad dilseage
followad.

Uaa .Nathanlel Ambrose who had ksnt tavarn on_tha2 Mountain,moved
to"Ta> Fort" and bscams landiord of ths Austin tavern.Under his mansg e-
ment the house bpegme 2 villags center.A lares hall added to the house
was tne acens of - . gome of tne political balls of ths day introduced
to make party converts.When Don . Ambroge ratired from the taverm business
he moved to the 1ittlsz white houss which stands as plcturad con tha gouth
gide of Portsmouth St.Thig house h: bullt in I8I6.In the early thirties
he s0ld this house to Cyrus Robingon and bullt for his own homs,the
brick houss on the oppesite gide of ths sgtreet.fhere ha 1ivad out his
days,honored and regspectad ags a man of true plwty.Ha served ag deacon
at ths Meeting-house for thirty-one years and dGuring much 0f thalt time
1t was hisg custom to hold a Saturday night prayer mesting at the brick
achoolhouge which stood on thz gite of.lﬁ'? Bastman 9t.%ucceeding bea.
Ambrogs at the tavern was a Capt.Smith whose grandson accumilataed a
fortune,changed his name to Durant and founded Wellesley college.From
I8T6 t311 I82I,8arah Austin,daughtsr of the first lanclord,kspt a pri-
vats achool in ths tavern.

Cns of ths later taverns in the neighborhood is ghown in our plct-
ure as it stands today.It was koot by Meshect Lang from I825 till I830.
Lang had married ons of the daughters of John Hoit who kept the famous
tavern in ths far northeast corner of the town on what is how @Hoyt
road.This tavern on Lang's hill as it was then called,was gold to his
wifs'e brother,John Hoit,Jr.,"Innkeeper of Nzwmarket."

an old-fashionsd but very charming courtesy orevailed in the
days when thes: tayerns flourighed,as wiinassed by the following invi-
tation carsfully written on 0ld English oaper and preserved for many
years:

"gaml.W.Lane vressnts compliments to Miss Polly dastman and will
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be vary happy to accompany hér to a Ball at Mr.Auwstin's on Wednesday

the 5th of June at 3 0'clock p.m.
" Please to answsr by the Bearer.
I am,Bear Madam,
Your Humble Servant,

S.W.Lang." ..

During the years since the United States had won her 1ndepend—.‘
ence the couhtfy had grown in exﬁent and in wealth until men believed
there could be no limit to prosperity.The prudent gpirit of labor and
thrift gave way to ths spirit of specylation based upen ungound fiman-
cial principles encowraged by the Federal govefnment.The inevitable re-
sult was the panie of 1837.The Mew Englénd phage had itg treots in the
sale of Moine lands which led to the wildest speculation.In conservative
Concord local real estdte rose to five times its normal value and men
gamblad the gsavings of yesrs.jhen the bubble burst,the loas in Concord
was staggering and men hitherto well-to-do found themselves ruined.

During the years leading to this calamity,several gschemes for
fortune naking wefe initlated in Cencord but the most expansive of all
was launched at"The fort".In I833 a group of prosperous citizens incor-
porated as ths Sewall's Falls Loecks and Canal Co.with the purposo to
dsvelop ths water power mear Sewall's Island.Coupetent engineers ap-
proved the plan which called for a dam Zeress tﬁe,ﬂerrimack river where
the preseht dam is located and a cahal two and a half miles long from
an inlet above the falls to a poimt om the river immediately below the
present railroad bridge.At that point locks were to be bullt to bring
boaté up té the necessary level and there were optimists who declared
that steamboats wewld soon be running from Boston to Plymouth over a
river routé.In addition twq‘water-courses wars to be bullt running
easterly from the canal with space betwsem.sufficlent for twenty-three

mills of.azloapa€lity of five thousand spindles each.
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Some forty thousand dollars had bsen spent on ths project,the dam

was half built and the canal nearly finished,when 2 freshst destroyed
much of the work on the latter.In censequéerice the work langulshed until
doomgd by the panic of '37.The advent of the railroad in ths early for-
ties wrecked the transportation part of the plan.For some'timé the solid
masanfy of granite walls huilt for the locks,mocked the defeatsd stock-
holders and then the steones were used,somewhat ironically, as plers and
abutments for the bridge bullt for the railroad. The thirty foot wide
canal trench was traceable for meost of 1ts course along the plain west
of tha village and,until very recent years the canal between the rail-
road and Eastman St.still had water in it.It is now filled in.

All this was for generations mute testimony to the shattered
dream of more than a century ago.Wed that dream materialized"old Fort"

might well have rivalled the mill towns ow the lower Merrimack river.



